FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/11/2021 11:41 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/12/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99569-9

No. 53889-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION, and SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION POLITICAL EDUCATION & ACTION FUND,

Appellees/Defendants.

APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF, FREEDOM FOUNDATION'S, PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

I. NATURE OF CASE AND DECISION.

The matter below was a Petition for Judicial Review, under the APA. **Appendix A**, p. 002. The trial court, Hon. J. Skinder, granted the CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss filed by the PDC, apparently on the grounds argued, that: (i) that the Foundation did not have standing under the APA to seek judicial review of the dismissal of its administrative complaint by the PDC, because it was not a "party" to the PDC proceedings; (ii) that the Foundation did not have APA standing arising from injury to its competitive interests as a result of the PDC's dismissal; and (iii) that the Foundation did not have associational standing, for the foregoing reasons. **Appendix B**, p. 024; **Appendix C**, p. 040.

The Foundation timely filed its notice of appeal, on October 1, 2019, the matter was fully briefed by the parties, and the Court of Appeals, Division II, issued its unpublished opinion affirming Judge Skinder's dismissal, on February 9, 2021. **Appendix D**, p. 044. In so doing, Division II of the Court of Appeals relied heavily upon its decision in *Bethel. See id.*, at pp. 045, 049-050.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

1. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Foundation lacked standing to seek APA review of the PDC's dismissal, because it was not a "party" as defined by the APA, even where it filed the initial administrative complaint, provided additional information responding to SEIU PEAF's contentions, received notice of the PDC's decision, and was otherwise treated as a party throughout the brief proceedings? 2. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Foundation lacked standing to seek APA review of the PDC's dismissal, because it did not suffer an "injury in fact" to its competitive interests, even though SEIU PEAF's untimely disclosure of millions of dollars in contributions thwarted the Foundation's core mission to advance individual liberty by letting SEIU members know of the contributions to candidates that they may oppose, and prevented the Foundation's analysis, research, and reporting on that political activity?

3. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Foundation lacked associational standing to seek APA review of the PDC's dismissal, even where the SEIU PEAF's deliberate decision to delay disclosure of extensive contributions was an injury suffered by the Foundation's supporters across the State of Washington, the correction of which is germane to the Foundation's mission?

III. GROUNDS FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

This case should be accepted for discretionary review pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4). The matters addressed herein involve fundamental and urgent issues of broad public import, and the trial court's dismissal conflicts with the understanding of "party" status under the APA, as it has previously been understood in the appellate courts of this State. Prompt and ultimate determination by this Court will advance an ultimate determination of this action, as well as another presenting the same issues (*see infra*, at **Section III.A**). Discretionary review at this juncture will serve judicial economy, because the Foundation intends to seek consolidation of

this matter with that separate pending matter where the Foundation has requested direct review in the Supreme Court, *i.e.*, the matter styled *Freedom Foundation v. Washington State Public Disclosure Commission, Amalgamated Transit Union Legislative Council of Washington State,* Supreme Court No. 99281-9 (the "ATU Legislative Council Matter"). Moreover, review in the Supreme Court will permit expeditious resolution of these cases – on their merits, if the Foundation is correct; for lack of standing, if the Foundation is incorrect.

Under the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the grounds for discretionary review by this Court are narrowly confined. See generally RAP 13.4(b). It is axiomatic, however, that discretionary review should be accepted where the opinion at issue presents a conflict with the published decisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2). Another well-recognized basis for discretionary review is where "...the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). This court has often found the similar standard for direct review under RAP 4.2(a)(4)(requiring a "fundamental and urgent issue of broad public import") to be met where the dispute requires interpretation of governing statutory or other textual authorities. See Cooper v. Alsco, Inc., 186 Wn.2d 357, 361-62 (2016) (considering applicability of retail & service exemptions in RCW 49.46.130(3)); McCleary v. State, 173 Wn.2d 477, 512-13 (2012) (interpreting constitutional questions in the context of State's duty to fund school system); Washington Public Ports Association v. State, Dept. of *Revenue*, 148 Wn. 2d 637, 640-42 (2003) (considering scope of DOR's authority under RCW 82.29A.050).

Even aside from the public questions presented, however, discretionary review is warranted upon each of the foregoing grounds under Rule 13.4(b). In addition to presenting issues of substantial public import that deserve a definitive resolution by the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts with published decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals, requiring an opinion by this Court to settle the conflict.

The Foundation enjoyed standing to seek review of the PDC's dismissal of its administrative complaint because the Union's unredressed failure to disclose extensive political contributions prevented (and prevents) the Foundation's employees from carrying out the daily activities of its organization – informing union-represented public employees about the ways in which their union spends the fees that are deducted from their wages, thereby allowing such employees to decide whether or not they wish to continue subsidizing such efforts. Yet the trial court and Court of Appeals accepted the position that no one may seek review of the PDC's decisions unless he or she is on the receiving end of some enforcement action by the agency, which is incorrect as a matter of the longstanding doctrine of this State and of the United States Supreme Court.

Discretionary review is warranted as to the availability of judicial review under the APA, because the trial court's erroneous analysis of "party" status under that statute leaves no meaningful avenue for citizens of the State of Washington to subject the PDC's decisions to scrutiny – even where the PDC clearly "may be wrong." See Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington, 182 Wn. 2d 398, 411 (2015) ("Utter"). In combination with currently prevailing interpretations of the citizen's action provisions of the Fair Campaign Practices Act, RCW ch. 42.17A ("FCPA"),¹ unavailability of judicial review for decisions of this sort would insulate essentially all of the PDC's non-enforcement decisions from any independent check, and render it wholly impossible for "...citizens to expose the violation." Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 411. The Court should accept review to prevent this patently erroneous result, which is out of step with both the language and policy of the relevant statutes, from becoming law.

In this case, the PDC's non-enforcement decision (which the PDC insists no one has the right to review, here and in another related matter, see *infra*) was to ignore admitted violations of the FCPA by SEIU PEAF – an out-of-state entity registered with the PDC that claims to be a "political organization" for purposes of 26 U.S.C. Section 527, and thereby avoids the required disclosures at the federal level. Yet even in Washington State, SEIU PEAF chose not to disclose \$2.5 million in contributions from out-ofstate donors, which the PDC felt represented nothing more than "minor violations," and warranted nothing more than a milquetoast warning about "...the importance of timely and accurate filing C-5 reports."

¹ The Court of Appeals appears to believe that the 2018 FCPA amendments so fundamentally changed the principles on which the citizen's action provision was passed, that the mere action of informing the parties it will take no action is sufficient to prevent the citizen complainant from proceeding. See Freedom Foundation v. Bethel Sch. Dist., Public Disclosure Commission, 14 Wn. App. 2d 75, 83-85 (2020) ("Bethel").

SEIU PEAF's reports were not merely untimely, however; the entity simply made no effort to disclose any of this information until the Freedom Foundation brought its failure to do so to the attention of the PDC, *i.e.*, when its failure was apparent and requiring immediate correction. Facts like these make clear why the PDC should not be able to unilaterally decide to forego enforcement, particularly for *admitted* violations, and why this Court should undertake to determine whether any check remains in Washington law for similar decisions by the PDC.

Interpretation of the APA's definition of "party" is itself a substantially important public question, however, upon which the trial court's dismissal conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. The trial court's ruling also unduly restricts the notion of "competitive harm," contrary to decisions of the Washington State Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals – indeed, as well as decisions of the United States Supreme Court, which supply Washington law here. The dismissal below presents not only important public questions, but conflicts with the decisional law of this State. Discretionary review should be accepted.

A. Another Pending Matter Also Involves the Same Questions of Standing Under the APA.

In addition to this matter, the very same arguments concerning standing have arisen in the ATU Legislative Council Matter, described above. In that case, the Foundation filed a Petition for APA Review on May 7, 2020. The matter there is similarly an appeal from Judge Skinder's dismissal of an APA Petition, wherein the Foundation had argued to the PDC and then alleged in the review proceedings that the ATU Legislative Council violated the FCPA by failing to register as a political committee and thereby not disclosing the source of hundreds of thounds of dollars spent on political activity, including within Washington State. *See* **Appendix E**, p. 055.

There, like here, Judge Skinder granted dismissal upon a motion submitted by the PDC (the motion was filed on August 20, 2020, and granted November 3, 2020), arguing that (i) the Foundation lacked standing because it was not a "party" to the PDC's dismissal, within the meaning of the APA, and (ii) that the Foundation suffered no competitive harm for purposes of the "injury-in-fact" inquiry required for APA standing. *See* **Appendix F**, p. 130; **Appendix G**, p. 146. The Foundation filed a Petition for Direct Review in the ATU Legislative Council matter on December 1, 2020, and timely filed its Statement of Grounds in Support of Direct Review in that matter on December 15, 2020. *See* **Appendix H** (without exhibits), p. 150. That Petition for Direct Review remains pending.

In dismissing the APA Petition here and in the ATU Legislative Council matter, Judge Skinder appears to have agreed with the PDC's argument that the PDC "exercised no coercive power over Freedom Foundation," and so it was not a "party" within the meaning of the APA. *See* **Appendix B**, p. 031; *see also* RCW 34.05.010(12) (**Appendix I**, p. 167). In light of the abbreviated proceedings transpiring before the PDC, that understanding of what constitutes a "party" to an "agency proceeding" within the meaning of RCW 34.05.010(12)(a) erroneously conflates that concept with an "adjudicative proceeding," which is separately defined in subsection (1) of the APA's definitions.² But the definition of "party" in subsection (12) uses the notably broader phrasing of "agency proceeding," and therefore must be interpreted to import a different meaning than "adjudicative proceeding." *See Seeber v. Washington State Public Disclosure Commission*, 96 Wn.2d 135, 139 (1981);³ *see also* RCW 34.05.010(12) (Appendix I).⁴

B. Just As In the ATU Legislative Council Matter, Defining the Scope of Who May Seek Judicial Review is Critical to the Public Interest.

1. The Order of Dismissal Was an "Agency Action" "Specifically Directed" to the Foundation.

The PDC unquestionably issued an order, which represented the "agency action" at issue here. *See* RCW 34.05.010(11)(a) ("'Order,' without further qualification, means a written statement of particular applicability that finally determines the legal rights, duties, privileges, immunities, or other legal interests of a specific person or persons."). It is obvious that the PDC's administrative dismissal qualifies as an "agency action." The above-quoted definition does not require a directive to the

 $^{^{2}}$ "Adjudicative proceeding' means a proceeding before an agency in which an opportunity for hearing before that agency is required by statute or constitutional right before or after the entry of an order by the agency." RCW 34.05.010(1).

³ "It is an elementary rule that where certain language is used in one instance, and different language in another, there is a difference in legislative intent."

⁴ "'Party to agency proceedings,' or 'party' in a context so indicating, means: (a) A person to whom the agency action is specifically directed; or (b) A person named as a party to the agency proceeding or allowed to intervene or participate in the agency proceeding."

Foundation for it to do anything; it only requires that someone's legal rights or obligations be determined or impacted, which the PDC's dismissal accomplished as to SEIU PEAF, in holding that no enforcement action would be brought.

2. The Foundation Was Permitted to Participate "As a Party" in the "Agency Proceedings."

Separately and independently, it is clear that the Foundation participated "as a party" in the "agency proceedings" that resulted from the filing of its PDC complaint, as necessary to satisfy RCW 34.05.010(12)(b). Decisional law going back over twenty (20) years has established that nothing more is required for "party" status than an entity being treated as a party would otherwise be treated in more formal "proceedings" – having its submissions accepted, considered by the agency and responded to by the other party, receiving notice of documents and of a decision, and being apprised of the basis of that decision – *i.e.*, receiving the basic indicia of due process. *See Technical Employees Ass'n. v. Publ. Empl. Rel. Comm'n*, 105 Wn. App. 434, 439-40 (2001); *see also Yanisch v. Western Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 120 Wn. App. 1033, at *2 (Mar. 2, 2004) (unpublished) ("party of record" status coextensive with "party to agency proceedings" and requirement for service of documents, *citing Technical Employees Ass'n.*, 105 Wn. App. at 438).⁵ It appears that the looseness of

⁵ Pursuant to GR 14.1, *Yanisch* is only cited for its persuasive value; the Foundation does not submit that the opinion presents any conflict with the appellate court's affirmance, for purposes of accepting discretionary review.

these requirements was specifically to allow for the informal "proceedings" that transpired here, and to make sure that participants in such proceedings receive due process. *See Den Beste v. State, Pollution Cont. Hrgs. Bd.*, 81 Wn. App. 330, 339-40 (1996).⁶ The statutory standard for who is considered a "party" certainly does not contemplate an entity who *has* been provided notice and an opportunity to participate, and otherwise been consistently treated as a party, nonetheless being foreclosed from bringing any challenge to the PDC's disposition of non-enforcement.

Accordingly, the Court should accept discretionary review and vindicate the Legislature's obvious intent to cast "party" status broadly. This also speaks to the importance of the public questions presented, because the Foundation asks this Court to prevent the PDC from staking out a position here that would allow it to entirely insulate from judicial review its future decisions of this sort. Not only does the trial court's dismissal implicate the important public questions of when APA review is available and by whom (for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(4)), it conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Den Beste* and *Technical Employees Association*. Thus, discretionary review is independently warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

⁶ "Further, as stated by applicants, because the Department is prohibited...from conducting adjudicative proceedings on water rights applications, it is not possible for anyone, except perhaps an applicant, to become a 'party' to these proceedings in the traditional sense. Finally, as the PCHB noted, the APA defines a party to include persons allowed to 'participate as a party in the agency proceeding.'[...] We agree with the PCHB that, given its degree of participation, the Yakima Indian Nation was entitled to timely notice of the Department's decision." (emphasis added).

C. The Opinion Conflicts With Numerous Published Decisions of the Supreme Court & Court of Appeals.

With respect to the "injury-in-fact" requirement, the trial court and Court of Appeals appear to have also accepted the argument that "Freedom Foundation has suffered no injury here sufficient to establish standing. There is no allegation that the conduct in question directly affected Freedom Foundation." *See* **Appendix B**, p. 030. This was incorrect, as a matter of well-established precedent.

First, it is black letter law that the prejudice sufficient for an "injuryin-fact" need not be economic in nature. *See Association of Data Processing Svc. Orgs. v. Camp*, 397 U.S. 150, 154 (1970); U.S. v. Students Challenging *Regulatory Agency Procedures* ("SCRAP"), 412 U.S. 669, 687 (1973). Financial competition, while sufficient, is not required; the Foundation and entities that violate the FCPA need only (and undoubtedly do) have that "...concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues." See *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S. 186, 204 (1962); *see also Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship and Training Council*, 129 Wn.2d 787, 793, n.1 (1996) ("As our reliance on federal case law in [*St. Joseph Hospital*] indicates, we will look to federal cases addressing standing."); *see also* RCW 34.05.001. The Court of Appeals, however, believed that the Foundation must show a "direct economic effect" to support an injury-infact, which was simply incorrect. *See* **App. D**, at p. 051.

Second, while the "direct economic effect" may be intangible, it is nonetheless real: the ability gained by FCPA violators to cite the PDC's decision under review here, to courts, the agency, or to the Foundation itself, in the context of future actions – and the Foundation's inability to cite a favorable decision arising from the same matter. The accumulation of such decisions allows unions and their affiliated entities to entirely circumvent accountability for their expenditures in Washington state politics, which is uniquely prejudicial to the Foundation's ability to carry out its daily activities of informing others about those expenditures. The "perceptible harm" that results directly to the Foundation's efforts from being unable to communicate with public employees concerning SEIU PEAF's political expenditures, as well as that resulting from unfavorable administrative and/or judicial decisions, is too obvious to be denied.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals has previously recognized similar, non-economic harms as sufficient to confer standing. *See Snohomish Cty. Publ. Transp. Benefit Area v. State Public Employment Relations Commission*, 173 Wn. App. 504, 514 (2013) ("This loss of leverage is a 'sufficient likelihood of economic injury.""). The decision below presents a direct conflict with the previous Supreme Court and intermediate appellate decisions of this State, for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

Because its supporters and employees throughout the State of Washington suffered a cognizable injury-in-fact, and because redressing that injury is germane to the Foundation's purpose as an organization, it also had associational standing for the APA Petition below. *See International Association of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports,* 146 Wn.2d 207, 213-14 (2002). The widespread nature of the harm here distinguishes *Freedom Foundation v. Bethel School District,* 14 Wn. App. 2d. 75 (2020),

because in that case, the allegations were concerned with FCPA violations taking place only within the confines of the Bethel School District. *See Bethel*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 79 ("Freedom Foundation alleged that the District improperly used public facilities in violation of RCW 42.17A.555 to process employee payroll contributions to WEA-PAC and NEA-FCPE."); *see also* **App. D**, at p. 048 ("In [*Bethel*], the Foundation filed a PDC complaint against a school district regarding its processing of payroll deductions."). As such, it was difficult for the Foundation, who is not situated in Bethel School District, to support a competitive injury from the alleged violations.⁷

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