NO. 99569-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREEDOM FOUNDATION, a Washington nonprofit organization,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION, a State of Washington government agency, and SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION POLITICAL EDUCATION & ACTION FUND, an IRS 527 political committee,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION POLITICAL EDUCATION AND ACTION FUND'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Dmitri Iglitzin, WSBA No. 17673 Ben Berger, WSBA No. 52909 Attorneys for Respondent SEIU PEAF

BARNARD IGLITZIN & LAVITT, LLP 18 West Mercer Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98119

INTRODUCTION

Through its Petition for Discretionary Review, the Freedom Foundation (Foundation) tries and fails to convert settled issues of standing under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05, *et seq.*, into disputed questions of pressing public concern. None of the issues the Foundation raises satisfies a single ground for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). They all involve legal questions that appellate courts have resolved unanimously and which touch on procedural limitations that, in practice, affect a narrow class of serial administrative complainants. Therefore, the asserted grounds for discretionary review conflicting decisions under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) and a question of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)—do not apply. The Court should deny the Foundation's petition for discretionary review.

NATURE OF CASE AND DECISION

The facts of this case are straightforward and not in dispute. SEIU PEAF is a Section 527 political fund connected to the Service Employees International Union (SEIU). CP 2, 32-34. It is registered as an out-of-state political committee with the PDC and submits C-5 reports. CP 35-44, 84. The Foundation is a non-profit organization that purports to champion individual liberty, free enterprise, and limited, accountable government. CP 2, 13. It claims that its "core mission" is to persuade public employees to "opt-out" of union membership. Pet. for Rev. at 1.

On February 18, 2019, the Foundation submitted an administrative complaint to the PDC alleging that SEIU PEAF had violated the Fair Campaign Practices Act (FCPA), RCW 42.17A., *et. seq.*, in a number of respects. CP 24-30.¹ Pursuant to RCW 42.17A.755, the PDC conducted a preliminary review of the Foundation's allegations. It solicited a position statement from SEIU PEAF, which in response contested several allegations but acknowledged that, through an inadvertent error, it had failed to report four specific expenditures made in out-of-state political campaigns. CP 72-74. On March 12, 2019, SEIU PEAF also amended its C-5 reports to accurately reflect the initially unreported expenditures. CP 73, 84. The PDC permitted the Foundation to respond with supplemental materials. CP 75-81. The record does not reflect that the Foundation was ever joined as a party to the proceedings.

On May 7, 2019, the PDC issued two letters setting forth its findings and ordering a remedy. CP 82-85. Consistent with SEIU PEAF's admission, the PDC found that SEIU PEAF failed to disclose the above-referenced expenditures in five of its C-5 report. CP 83-85. The PDC did

¹ In 2018, the Foundation lodged separate FCPA allegations against SEIU PEAF, which it eventually converted into a citizen action. CP 5. The trial court dismissed the Foundation's complaint and the Foundation then sought and received discretionary review by this Court as part of consolidated Case No. 97109-9. The Court recently upheld the dismissal of that citizen action in *Freedom Foundation v. Teamsters Local 117 Segregated Fund*, 197 Wn.2d 116, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021).

not classify this failure as an "actual violation" because (1) the unreported out-of-state expenditures did not concern Washington races; (2) all Washington expenditures had been reported; (3) the amended reports showed no additional 2018 expenditures; and (4) SEIU PEAF spent only 9.2% of its 2018 expenditures in Washington. CP 85. Accordingly, the PDC declared that it was formally warning SEIU PEAF to comply with its disclosure requirements going forward but was dismissing the Foundation's complaint pursuant to RCW 42.17A.755(1). CP 82, 85.

Dissatisfied with the PDC's conclusions, the Foundation requested that the PDC reconsider it remedy. CP 19. Aside from clarifying that the allegations had been dismissed as "minor violations" under WAC 390-37-060(1)(d), the PDC declined to do so. CP 7, 19. On June 5, 2019, the Foundation filed an APA petition in Thurston County Superior Court, alleging that the PDC had exceeded its authority under the FCPA when it issued SEIU PEAF a formal warning rather than bringing an enforcement action against SEIU PEAF and seeking extensive monetary penalties. CP 1-21. The PDC moved to dismiss the Foundation's petition on standing grounds and on September 27, 2019, the trial court granted the motion. CP 140-42. The Foundation appealed the trial court's decision on October 1, 2019. CP 136-38.

On February 9, 2021, after receiving briefs from all parties,

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion upholding the trial court's dismissal of the Foundation's APA petition on standing grounds. *See Freedom Found. v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n*, No. 53889-0-II, 2021 WL 463364, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1037 (2021) (unpublished). On March 11, 2021, the Foundation petitioned this Court for discretionary review of the decision below.²

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals correctly hold that the Foundation lacks standing under the APA to petition for judicial review of the PDC's dismissal of its administrative complaint against SEIU PEAF, where it was not a party to the administrative proceedings and it has no interest in the resolution of the case other than its desire to see punitive penalties imposed on SEIU PEAF due to its animus against public sector labor unions and the workers who choose to join them?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly hold that the Foundation lacks associational standing under the APA to petition for judicial review of the PDC's dismissal of its administrative complaint against SEIU

² On March 5, 2020, while its appeal of the trial court's decision in this matter was pending, the Foundation filed a citizen action in Thurston County Superior Court against SEIU PEAF alleging the same FCPA violations asserted here. *See Freedom Found. v. Service Employees Int'l Union Political Educ. & Action Fund*, No. 20-2-01056-34 (2020) (Murphy, J.). On July 29, 2020, the Hon. Carol Murphy dismissed the citizen action as procedurally barred by RCW 42.17A.775(1)(a) and 755(1). The Foundation's appeal of Judge Murphy's ruling is currently pending before Division II of the Court of Appeals. *See Freedom Found. v. Service Employees Int'l Union Political Educ. & Action Fund*, No. No. 55104-7-II (2020).

PEAF, where it has not identified any organizational members and any members it does have would not have individual standing to petition for judicial review of said dismissal?

ABSENCE OF GROUNDS FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

I. The Court Of Appeals' Holding That The Foundation Lacks Standing Under The APA To Seek Judicial Review Of The PDC's Decision Does Not Implicate Any Asserted Ground For Discretionary Review.

The Foundation urges the Court to accept discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' finding that it lacked APA standing to challenge the PDC's order dismissing its administrative complaint against SEIU PEAF. It claims review is necessary to (1) resolve an alleged conflict between the decision below and existing precedent and (2) correct vaguely identified problems that the decision will allegedly create. Pet. for Rev. at 4-7.

These arguments lack merit because precedential authority supports the Court of Appeals' view of APA standing. The Court of Appeals' decision merely enforces the longstanding requirement that a petitioner suffer an injury-in-fact. The practical upshot of applying it is that a narrow class of partisan actors are denied a workaround to the FCPA's 2018 amendments, which entrusts the PDC with enforcing campaign finance laws—hardly an issue of substantial public interest.

A. The relevant appellate decisions confirm, rather than conflict with, the trial court's APA analysis.

RAP 13.4(b) permits discretionary review "(1) [i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) [i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). In this case, not only is there no conflict among appellate authorities, the courts unanimously agree with the Court of Appeals' application of the APA's standing requirement.

The APA limits the right to "obtain judicial review of agency action" to persons who are "aggrieved or adversely affected by the agency action." RCW 34.05.530. A person is "aggrieved" under the APA "only when" three conditions are present: "(1) [t]he agency action has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person; (2) [t]hat person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged; and (3) [a] judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action." *Id*. The first and third prongs are paired together as an "injury-in-fact" test. *Burlington v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 187 Wn. App. 853, 862, 351 P.3d 875 (2015).

An agency action works an injury-in-fact when it results in "an

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 6 No. 99569-9

invasion of a legally protected interest." Snohomish Cty. Pub. Transp. Benefit Area v. State Pub. Empl't Relations Comm'n, 173 Wn. App. 504, 513, 294 P.3d 803 (2013). To confer standing, that invasion must be "concrete and particularized." Allan v. Univ. of Wash., 92 Wn. App. 31, 37, 959 P.2d 1184 (1998). The U.S. Supreme Court has clarified that an injury is "particularized" when it "affect[s] the plaintiff in a personal and individual way." Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1548, 194 L.Ed.2d 635 (2016).

The Foundation alleges that the PDC's action inflicted three injuries: (1) dismissing its administrative complaint; (2) diminishing its "competitive interest" by not requiring SEIU PEAF to make disclosures as a political committee; and (3) preventing its staff from researching SEIU PEAF's perceived FCPA violations, which it has associational standing to redress. Pet. for Rev. at 4-7. Governing law recognizes none of these as an invasion of a concrete and particularized interest.

1. Precedential authority establishes that the dismissal of an administrative complaint is not an injury-in-fact.

To begin with, the appellate courts have twice now considered whether the PDC's dismissal of an administrative complaint constitutes an injury-in-fact sufficient to trigger APA standing, and both times held that it does not. *See Freedom Found. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 75,

85-90, 469 P.3d 364 (2020), *rev. denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1033, 478 P.3d 83 (2021); *Freedom Found.*, *supra* at *3-5.³

In *Bethel*, the Foundation filed an administrative complaint with the PDC, alleging that a school district unlawfully used public facilities to process employee contributions to union-affiliated political committees. *Bethel*, 14 Wn. App. at 79. After the PDC found that no violation occurred and dismissed the Foundation's complaint, the Foundation brought both a citizen action and an APA petition challenging the PDC's order, each of which were dismissed in superior court. *Id*. In a consolidated appeal, Division II upheld both dismissals, finding with respect to the APA petition that the Foundation did not suffer a requisite "injury-in-fact" to confer APA standing. *Id*. at 85-90. That was because a complainant is not a "party" to the PDC proceeding and the complainant's "organizational mission cannot confer standing without a particularized harm or injury." *Id*. at 87-88. *Bethel* made this finding specifically as applied to the Foundation and in its capacity as an administrative complainant.

The Foundation then sought discretionary review of the APA

³ In addition, this Court recently denied the Freedom Foundation direct review of the dismissal of another one of its APA petitions and transferred the case to Division II of the Court of Appeals. See April 7, 2021 Order, Freedom Found. v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, et al. ("ATULC"), No. 99281-9 (2021), attached hereto as Appendix A. The Foundation's petition, filed before the Court denied direct review in ATULC, cites its then-pending petition in that case as grounds to support its petition here. See Pet. for Rev. at 3-4, 7-9. That this Court found the Foundation's petition in ATULC did not meet RAP 4.2(b)'s criteria for direct review further undercuts the Foundation's claim to meet RAP 13.4(b)'s analogous criteria here.

standing issue by this Court, arguing that the Court of Appeals' holding conflicted with decisions by this and other appellate courts, RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), and "involve[d] an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4); *Bethel* Pet. for Rev. at 13-17.⁴ On January 6, 2021, Department II of the Court considered the petition and unanimously agreed to deny it. Jan. 6, 2021, Order, attached hereto as Appendix B. A more on-point authority than *Bethel* could not be conceived.

Bethel merely implemented the principles of standing previously articulated in appellate cases interpreting the APA. These cases all recognize that a person who lodges a complaint with an administrative body has no concrete interest in the complaint's outcome, whereas the subject of the complaint has concrete interests at stake. Without any cognizable interest, the complainant's dissatisfaction with the outcome of the agency proceeding produces no injury-in-fact. See Newman v. Veterinary Bd. of Governors, 156 Wn. App. 132, 231 P.3d 840 (2010) (dog owners who lodged complaint against veterinarian suffered no injury-in-fact from veterinarian board's disposal of complaint, as alleged "interest in having the veterinarians held accountable and in seeing justice served" did not affect any concrete interest); Allan v. Univ. of Wash., 140

⁴ Available at https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/petitions/98989-3%20Petition%20for%20Review.pdf. In *Bethel*, the Foundation also sought review of the Court of Appeals' determination that the PDC's dismissal of its administrative complaint precluded it from filing a citizen action under the FCPA. That issue is not presented here.

Wn.2d 323, 997 P.2d 360 (2000) (wife of professor subject to university investigation who participated in investigation and subsequent process to revise Faculty Code did not suffer injury-in-fact because her "procedural injury" in university's allegedly incorrect revision process was not tied to any substantive interest); *Choi v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, No. 77112-4-I, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1019 at *2 (Nov. 19, 2018) (unpublished) (complainant seeking review of agency's failure to revoke medical practitioner's license did not suffer injury-in-fact because he was merely a "member of the Public which [the agency] has an obligation to protect").

With respect to the question of the complainant's party status, *Bethel* explained that "[t]he FCPA does not confer standing on a complainant, and a complainant does not have the ability to participate in any proceeding unless requested by the PDC." *Bethel*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 87 (citing WAC 390-37-030(1)). Likewise, an agency order is not "specifically directed" at the complainant, so the complainant does not meet the definition of a party, as set forth in RCW 34.05.010(12). *Id*.⁵ The cases the Foundation cites to support its "party" status, *see* Pet. for Rev. at

⁵ Even if the Foundation were a "party" within the meaning of the APA, that fact alone would not demonstrate harm to a concrete and particularized interest. *See Allan*, 140 Wn.2d at 329 (accepting as "true" that petitioner 'participated as a party in the very adjudication and litigation which resulted in these changes," that fact was not probative of whether she would suffer a "present" or "future harm."); *Newman*, 156 Wn. App. at 148 ("[e]ven if [petitioners] were parties," they could not show that the decision adjudicated a "final order" appealable under the APA because such an order must decide "legal rights, duties, privileges, immunities, or other legal interests").

10-11, are inapposite because they involved entities whose participation in the agency proceeding was based on a material stake in the outcome.⁶

These cases show that there is complete agreement among appellate courts that the dismissal of an administrative complaint, and the complainant's displeasure with that result, does not confer APA standing. Thus, existing precedent fully disposes the Foundation's claims.

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